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I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DISMISSED THE 

INDICTMENT BY REACHING PAST THE CHARGED STATUTE 

AND MISCONSTRUING 18 U.S.C. § 1841, AN UNRELATED 

EXPANSION STATUTE. 

 

 The district court recognized correctly that Flute could have been charged 

with having violated 18 U.S.C. § 1112 if she committed her crime before 2004.  But 

nothing about § 1112 changed in 2004.  That year Congress enacted 18 U.S.C. § 

1841 to expand the reach of § 1112 and other violent crime statutes to allow a 

separate unit of prosecution against a third party whose violence against a pregnant 

woman causes death or bodily injury to “a child who is in utero.”  See 18 U.S.C. § 

1841.  That is not what happened here.  This case does not involve a third party 

committing violence against a pregnant woman, and it does not regard the death of 

a child in utero.  Flute was not charged under § 1841, and the district court erred 

when it reasoned by analogy to § 1841 to dismiss the indictment.   

Neither the district court nor Flute point within § 1112 to anything vague or 

to an exemption for her.  There is no canon of statutory construction that allows a 

district court to search elsewhere in the federal code to dismiss a prosecution because 

a defendant does not fit under a separate, uncharged statute. 

A.  Standard of Review 

The parties agree that this Court reviews “de novo a district court’s dismissal 

of an indictment for failure to state an offense.”  United States v. Steffen, 687 F.3d 

1104, 1109 (8th Cir. 2012) (citing United States v. Hirsch, 360 F.3d 860, 863 (8th 
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Cir. 2004)). 

B.  Analysis of a Plainly Worded Statute Ends with its Text. 

The government agrees with Flute that “[i]interpretation of a statute begins 

with the text.”  AB 61 (citing United States v. Jungers, 702 F.3d 1066, 1069 (8th 

Cir. 2013).  The government also agrees with Flute that Jungers describes well the 

limits within which courts must abide when interpreting a statute.  AB 6.  “‘If the 

intent of Congress can be clearly discerned from the statute’s language, the judicial 

inquiry must end.’”  Jungers, 702 F.3d at 1069 (quoting United States v. Behrens, 

644 F.3d 754, 755 (8th Cir. 2011)) (additional citations omitted).  Moreover, when 

a statute is unambiguous, the “‘sole function of the courts—at least where the 

disposition required by the text is not absurd—is to enforce it according to its 

terms.’”  Jungers, 702 F.3d at 1069 (quoting Lamie v. U.S. Tr., 540 U.S. 526, 534 

(2004)).   

In her response, Flute identifies no alleged ambiguity within § 1112.  She 

argues instead that the statutory term “‘human being’ does not cover an unborn child 

before live birth.”  AB 7 (citing 1 U.S.C. § 8(c)).  The government agrees, but that 

does not advance Flute’s argument because there is no dispute that Baby Boy Flute 

was born alive before his death, a “human being” in full as used in § 1112, as defined 

                                                 

1 Appellee’s Response Brief will be cited as “AB.”  The government’s opening 

brief will be cited as “Gov’t Brief.” 
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by 1 U.S.C. § 8.   

The government also agrees with Flute that, when interpreting statutes, courts 

should take Congress to have meant what it said, not reading in words that do not 

appear in a statute.  AB 8.  “We ordinarily resist reading words or elements into a 

statute that do not appear on its face.”  Jungers, 702 F.3d at 1075 (citations omitted).  

“‘Congress knows how to craft an exception [or impose a status requirement] when 

it intends one.’”  Id. (quoting Jonah R. v. Carmona, 446 F.3d 1000, 1007 (9th Cir. 

2006)).  When it passed § 1841, Congress presumably knew how to amend § 1112 

if it wanted to craft an exception for a mother who kills her born alive child through 

grossly negligent prenatal acts.  If it so wanted, Congress could have also stated that 

intention to alter § 1112 within § 1841.     

Moreover, “‘[w]e do not lightly assume that Congress has omitted from its 

adopted text requirements that it nonetheless intends to apply, and our reluctance is 

even greater when Congress has shown elsewhere in the same statute that it knows 

how to make such a requirement manifest.’”  Jungers, 702 F.3d at 1075 (quoting 

Jama v. ICE, 543 U.S. 335, 342 (2005)).  Within § 1841, Congress made it clear 

that it knew the difference between the statutory terms “human being” and “unborn 

child,” and that it knew how to use those terms.  Section 1841(a)(2)(C) states that a 

person who intends to kill an “unborn child” shall be punished as provided under § 

1112 regarding a “human being.”  Thus, Congress was aware of the contrasting 
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meanings of those statutory phrases.  If it had wanted to, Congress knew how to 

manifest in § 1841(c)(3) an intention to exclude a woman with respect to a child who 

had attained “human being” status like Baby Boy Flute.  Instead, it wrote 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1841(c)(3), to pertain only to “any woman with respect to her unborn child.” 

(emphasis added).  There are also many references throughout § 1841 to other 

sections within Title 18 of the United States Code.  Thus, Congress knew how to 

reference those other sections if it so chose, and this Court should proceed with 

heightened reluctance to read into § 1841 an unspoken intention to shrink the 

coverage of § 1112.   

Flute’s response requires one to accept the premise that her crime started and 

ended with her drug binge, before Baby Boy Flute was born alive.  See AB at 7 

(arguing “the involuntary manslaughter statute does not reach a woman’s prenatal 

conduct.”)  It is axiomatic, however, that manslaughter has not happened unless and 

until a human being is killed, and arguing otherwise requires ignoring the plain 

words that begin § 1112(a):  “Manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human 

being. . . .”  (emphasis added).  Flute was not charged for ingesting drugs.  She 

was charged for the “unlawful killing of a human being” without malice, resulting 

from her commission “without due caution and circumspection, of a lawful act 

which might produce death.”  18 U.S.C. § 1112(a).  As was explained in the 

government’s opening brief, manslaughter is a “crime of consequence,” in which the 
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crime is not complete until a death results.  Gov’t Brief at 17-18.  That death 

completes the crime of manslaughter is especially clear for the section of the 

manslaughter statute charged here; the indictment charged conduct that was “without 

malice, in the commission of a lawful act.”  DCD 2.  Absent death, there is no 

allegation here of any crime whatsoever.  

In her response, Flute does not rebut that Baby Boy Flute was a human being 

when he was killed.  She instead discounts state authorities cited by the government 

by claiming state cases “are inapposite to interpretation of a federal statute[.]”  See 

AB 8 at n. 2.  No question, state courts have wrestled with homicide statutes more 

frequently than have jurisdictionally limited federal courts.  Thus, this Court has 

found state authorities helpful when deciding how to treat the timing of a death when 

applying a federal homicide statute.  See United States v. Montgomery, 635 F.3d 

1074, 1087 (8th Cir. 2011) (analyzing state decisions before concluding a death may 

result from kidnapping even if it precedes the completion of the kidnapping).  The 

government continues to believe that the state authorities cited in its opening brief 

are helpful to understanding why Flute’s crime was not complete until Baby Boy 

Flute died.  Gov’t Brief at 18.   

C.  Federal Law Regarding Venue is Irrelevant.   

Flute has also responded by conflating timing with venue/jurisdiction, citing 

18 U.S.C. § 3236 and United States v. Eder, 836 F.2d 1145, 1147 (8th Cir. 1988).  

Appellate Case: 17-3727     Page: 10      Date Filed: 06/14/2018 Entry ID: 4672931  



6 
 

As illustrated by Eder, the fixed standard provided by § 3236 is necessary at times 

to determine whether federal jurisdiction exists when it depends on the location of 

the crime.  There was a long common law history before the enactment in 1909 of 

what is now § 3236, and that history confirms that homicide offenses are crimes of 

consequence for which the resulting death has always been an essential element that 

completes the crime.      

In Bostic v. Rives, 107 F.2d 649, 651-52 (D.C. Cir. 1939), the court explained 

that what is currently 18 U.S.C. § 3236 was enacted in 1909 to end authority splits 

regarding jurisdiction for homicide offenses when a fatal blow happens in one place 

and death in another.  United States v. Guiteau, 12 D.C. 498 (Sup. Ct. D.C. 1882), 

provides an overview of the confusion before § 3236 was enacted, with collected 

authorities.  A fixed rule was needed because, at common law, “if a mortal blow 

was given in one county, and the party died in consequence of the blow in another, 

it was doubted whether the murder could be punished in either[.]”  Guiteau, 12 D.C. 

at 502.  See, i.e., United States v. Bladen, 1 Cranch C.C. 548 (Circuit Court, D.C. 

1809) (applying British common law, reversing judgment for homicide because “the 

offence not being complete with our jurisdiction[,]” when “fatal stroke” occurred 

within district, but death occurred in neighboring state).  The Supreme Court 

discussed the jurisdictional conundrum in Ball v. United States, 140 U.S. 118, 133-

136 (1891).  In Ball, the Court reversed murder convictions because the indictments 
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failed to allege the essential element of the location of the death.  Id. at 136.   

In any event, the background of § 3236 in no way diminishes the 

government’s view that the resulting death is an essential element of a homicide 

offense.  It is largely because homicide is a composite offense that the 

venue/jurisdiction questions arose, requiring a fixed rule to end confusion that was 

resulting in dismissals of otherwise meritorious prosecutions.  The existence of this 

federal venue/jurisdiction statute supports holding that the manslaughter at issue 

here was not a completed offense until the death of Baby Boy Flute, who was when 

he died unquestionably a “human being” as that term is used in § 1112.  

D.  Congress Meant to Draw a Line Defining When Personhood Begins. 

Flute argues that “[a]pplying the involuntary manslaughter statute to Flute’s 

alleged prenatal medication use would lead to an anomalous result.”  AB 9.  She 

cites United States v. E.T.H., 833 F.3d 931, 938 (8th Cir. 2016), in which the Court 

noted that “‘[a] literal interpretation of a statute will not be resorted to when it brings 

about absurd consequences or produces results not intended by Congress.’”  Id. 

(quoting Friedman v. United States, 374 F.2d 363, 367 (8th Cir.)).  Flute complains 

that it is absurd that the live birth of her child created criminal liability, but if he had 

been stillborn she would not have committed a crime.  AB 9.   

The government agrees that Flute’s criminal liability under § 1112 depended 

on Baby Boy Flute being born alive, but that is a direct application of what Congress 
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intended when it defined personhood for purposes of federal statutes.  It is clear 

from 1 U.S.C. § 8 that separating a “human being” from “any member of the species 

homo sapien at any point prior to be being ‘born alive,’” is the precise line Congress 

meant to draw when it defined the statutory term “human being” as used in § 1112.  

1 U.S.C. § 8.  That intent being manifestly clear from the language of the statute 

itself, “the judiciary inquiry must end” because the “sole function of the courts” 

when disposition required by statutory text is not absurd, “is to enforce it according 

to its terms.”  Jungers, 702 F.3d at 1069 (multiple citations omitted).  It is not the 

place of the courts to second-guess Congress’s decision to answer a vexing 

conceptual question, as it did by deciding when personhood begins for purposes of 

the federal criminal code.  Congress having made the choice to tackle the 

complicated issue, and having done so unambiguously, it is the role of the courts to 

enforce it.  

E.  The Rule of Lenity Does Not Apply.   

Flute’s reliance on the rule of lenity is misplaced.  “The rule of lenity requires 

a criminal statute be construed in a defendant’s favor where, ‘after considering text, 

structure, history, and purpose, there remains a grievous ambiguity or uncertainty in 

the statute, such that the Court must simply guess as to what Congress intended.’”  

United States v. Smith, 756 F.3d 1070, 1075 (quoting United States v. Castleman, 

134 S. Ct. 1405, 1416 (2014)) (additional citations omitted).  “‘[G]rievous 
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ambiguity or uncertainty’ necessary to invoke lenity requires more than ‘[t]he simple 

existence of some statutory ambiguity’ because ‘most statutes are ambiguous to 

some degree.’”  Smith, 756 F.3d at 1075 (quoting Muscarello v. United States, 524 

U.S. 125, 138 (1998)).  Again, there is nothing ambiguous about the application 

here of § 1112 or 1 U.S.C. § 8 defining “human being,”     

F.  Flute Has Misread § 1841(c). 

Flute claims that the passage of § 1841 superseded § 1112 such that § 1841 

“is now the sole statutory basis for prosecuting conduct that took place while the 

victim was in utero.”  AB 17.  It is not particularly rare for Congress to pass new 

statutes more specific to certain situations that overlap with older, more general 

statutes.  See, i.e., United States v. Hartness, 845 F.2d 158, 162 (8th Cir. 1988) 

(rejecting argument that more specific false statement statutes preempted 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1001).  That does not invalidate or supersede the pre-existing statute.  “‘[W]hen 

an act violates more than one criminal statute, the Government may prosecute under 

either so long as it does not discriminate against any class of defendants.’”  Id.  

(quoting United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114, 123-24 (1979)).   

Nonetheless, the government is not claiming that Flute could have been 

prosecuted under § 1841 if the exception in § 1841(c)(3) were not present.  To 

violate 18 U.S.C. § 1841, one has to commit an underlying offense enumerated in § 

1841(b) against a pregnant woman, that “thereby causes the death of, or bodily 
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injury (as defined in section 1365) to, a child who is in utero at the time the conduct 

takes place[.]”  That the underlying offense must be one committed by a third party 

against a pregnant woman is made plain in § 1841(a)(2)(B)(i), in which Congress 

clarified that no proof is required that the perpetrator had knowledge that “the victim 

of the underlying offense was pregnant[.]”  The government previously noted that 

legislative history of § 1841 also makes clear that its purpose was to create two 

chargeable offenses when an expectant mother is the victim of an enumerated federal 

felony during which her unborn child is killed or injured.  Gov’t Brief at 21-22.  On 

its face and confirmed by the legislative history, § 1841 was never intended to come 

into play whatsoever in a case like this one, in which no third party is alleged to have 

been involved in victimizing Flute or her child.   

II. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS RIGHT TO IGNORE FLUTE’S VOID-

FOR-VAGUENESS CHALLENGE BECAUSE, AS APPLIED TO HER 

ALLEGED CONDUCT, AN ORDINARY PERSON WOULD HAVE 

UNDERSTOOD THAT HER CONDUCT WAS PROHIBITED.  
 

Flute’s as-applied vagueness challenge is misplaced because a person of 

ordinary intelligence would have known that a drug binge at 38 weeks’ pregnancy 

risks killing a born-alive child, and that such conduct deserves prohibition.  Flute’s 

slippery-slope arguments about other pregnant women engaging in different 

hypothetical behavior have no place in an as-applied vagueness discussion because 

the question is whether the statute is vague as applied to the facts at hand.  

Moreover, a Rule 12 dismissal is a premature mechanism for deciding an as-applied 
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vagueness challenge because the facts in focus are undeveloped.     

A.   Standard of Review 

This Court reviews de novo whether a penal statute is void for vagueness 

under the Fifth Amendment. United States v. Cook, 782 F.3d 983, 987 (8th Cir. 

2015). 

B.   An Ordinary Intelligent Person Would Have Understood That Flute’s    

  Drug Binge Was Prohibited. 

  

A statute may be void for vagueness on two independent grounds: (1) if 

ordinary intelligent people have no fair notice or reasonable opportunity to 

understand what conduct is proscribed, or (2) if it prohibits conduct so broadly that 

it encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.  See Holder v. 

Humanitarian Law Project, 561 U.S. 1, 18 (2010); Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 

352, 357 (1983).  The first notion is that “[v]ague laws may trap the innocent by not 

providing fair warning.”  Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09 

(1972).  The second means that a statute must establish “minimal guidelines to 

govern law enforcement.”  Kolender, 461 U.S. at 359.   

“‘An as-applied challenge consists of a challenge to the statute’s application 

only as-applied to the party before the court.’”  Phelps-Roper v. Ricketts, 867 F.3d 

883, 896 (8th Cir. 2017) (quoting Republican Party of Minn., Third Cong. Dist. v. 

Klobuchar, 381 F.3d 785, 790 (8th Cir. 2004)).  A litigant “generally cannot prevail 

on an as-applied challenge without showing that the law has in fact been (or is 
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sufficiently likely to be) unconstitutionally applied to [her].”  McCullen v. Coakley, 

134 S.Ct. 2518, 2534 at n.4 (2014) (emphasis in original).  Thus, reviewing courts 

only “consider whether a statute is vague as applied to the particular facts at issue, 

for ‘[a] plaintiff who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot 

complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others.’”  Cook, 

782 F.3d at 987 (quoting Holder, 561 U.S. at 18-19)) (additional citations omitted).   

There is no role here for the bulk of Flute’s arguments that describe a feared 

slippery slope for other hypothetical pregnant women engaged in a laundry list of 

different behavior.  See AB 23-24.2  Solely at issue for this Court’s review are 

those facts alleged in the indictment regarding Flute.  During the designated time 

period, she is alleged to have killed her child without malice, in the commission of 

a lawful act in an unlawful manner, knowing that her actions were a threat to her 

child, through grossly negligent behavior involving her ingestion of prescribed and 

over-the-counter medicines.  DCD 2.  Flute knew she was 38 weeks pregnant when 

she went on a drug binge.  An ordinary intelligent person had fair notice by virtue 

of § 1112 that such behavior was grossly negligent to the extent that it “might 

produce death” of a human being.         

                                                 
2 There is an inconsistency in Flute’s positions.  In the same brief in which she 

cautions about a feared floodgate of prosecutions of pregnant women, she also 

acknowledges that in the many decades of its existence, the federal manslaughter 

statute has “never been applied to a woman’s prenatal conduct based on its effect on 

her later-born child.”  AB 7.   
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A motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(1) is also an improper, 

premature vehicle for dismissal under an as-applied vagueness challenge.  “Courts 

may not . . . make factual findings when an issue is ‘inevitably bound up with the 

evidence about the alleged offense itself.’”  United States v. Turner, 842 F.3d 602, 

605 (8th Cir. 2016) (quoting United States v. Grimmett, 150 F.3d 958, 962 (8th Cir. 

1998).  In United States v. Reed, 114 F.3d 1067, 1069-71 (10th Cir. 1997), the court 

held that “it was error to consider the [void for vagueness] challenge at the 

preliminary stage of the proceedings[.]”   

CONCLUSION  

 

The government respectfully requests this Court reverse the district court’s 

November 14, 2017 Opinion and Order dismissing the indictment. 

Respectfully submitted this 14th day of June, 2018. 
 

      RONALD A. PARSONS, JR. 

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 

       /s/ Kevin Koliner                                             

      KEVIN KOLINER 

      Assistant United States Attorney 

      P.O. Box 2638 

Sioux Falls, SD 57101-2638 

Telephone: 605-330-4400 

E-Mail: kevin.koliner@usdoj.gov 
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